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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

BEFORE THE HONORABLE JON S. TIGAR

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
) Volume 8

Plaintiff, ) Pages 1333 - 1547
)

VS. ) NO. 11-00288 JST
)

SUSAN XIAO-PING SU, )
) San Francisco, California

Defendant. ) Monday, March 17, 2014
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TRANSCRIPT OF COURT PROCEEDINGS

APPEARANCES:

For Plaintiff: MELINDA HAAG
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
1301 Clay Street, Suite 340S
Oakland, California 94612

BY: HARTLEY M.K. WEST, ESQ.
WADE M. RHYNE, ESQ.
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEYS

For Defendant: Law Offices of Erik G. Babcock
717 Washington Street, Second Floor
Oakland, California 94607

BY: ERIK G. BABCOCK, ESQ.
ATTORNEY AT LAW

Reported By: James C. Pence, RMR, CRR, CSR No. 13059
Official Court Reporter - U.S. District Court
Computerized Transcription By Case CATalyst
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I N D E X

Monday, March 17, 2014 - Volume 8

GOVERNMENT'S WITNESSES PAGE VOL.

IGNATIUS, SANTHOSH
(SWORN) 1343 8
Direct Examination by Ms. West 1344 8
Cross-Examination by Mr. Babcock 1387 8
Redirect Examination by Ms. West 1412 8

CHALLA, KALPANA
(SWORN) 1413 8
Direct Examination by Mr. Rhyne 1415 8
Cross-Examination by Mr. Babcock 1453 8
Redirect Examination by Mr. Rhyne 1488 8

PATEL, PARTH
(SWORN) 1490 8
Direct Examination by Mr. Rhyne 1492 8
Cross-Examination by Mr. Babcock 1521 8
Redirect Examination by Mr. Rhyne 1542 8
Recross-Examination by Mr. Babcock 1544 8

E X H I B I T S

GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBITS IDEN EVID VOL.

32 1423 1423 8

33 1444 1444 8

34 1448 1449 8

35 1436 1437 8

36 1438 1438 8

530 1422 1422 8

531 1425 1427 8

532 1433 1433 8

533 1441 1442 8

534 1441 1443 8
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E X H I B I T S

GOVERNMENT'S EXHIBITS IDEN EVID VOL.

535 1430 1432 8
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IGNATIUS - DIRECT / WEST
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they had ties with. So yeah, they gave me the list, and

Tri-Valley University happened to be one of them.

Q. Now, did you do any research about Tri-Valley University?

A. They did give some information about it, and then I went

through the website. That's the extent of the search I did.

Q. What did you notice on the website?

A. First thing I saw is -- I think it was in the homepage -- I

saw it was written that the university is Christian-run --

not-for-profit Christian-run university. So --

Q. Why did that stand out to you?

A. I'm a Christian, and in India, we -- we believe that any

universities which is more Christian or Catholic-run happens to

have -- compared to the others, has a higher reliability

when -- you can rely on better education if it's Christian-run.

So it's something we believe in India.

So that kind of happened, and then I'm a Christian, and so

I have that extra -- I don't know -- trust towards that. There

is a trust factor which made me go for it.

Q. Was there anything else that you particularly noticed about

the website?

A. The website did -- it didn't look very professional. I'm

not sure if that's the right word. I would say a flashy -- it

didn't look very flashy, anything like other university

websites. But then again, since it -- it stated it's a

not-for-profit, obviously, I didn't have too much expectations

SER0159
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well -- so I was -- both of us were expecting -- when it's a

student -- you know, a student from the university, a

representative from the university, and transportation also

from the university. So we were expecting something like a

minivan or something which has the university's name and

everything written on the van.

Q. Let me just stop you for a moment.

A. Yeah.

Q. When you say both of you and "we," are you referring to you

and your friend?

A. Yes. Yes, because -- because both of us come together for

the same university.

Q. And what is your friend's name?

A. Susanna Varghese.

Q. Okay. Please --

(Court reporter clarification.)

THE WITNESS: Varghese, V-a-r-g-h-e-s-e.

BY MS. WEST:

Q. Please continue.

A. So that's when we were expecting -- so that's what we had

in mind when we say it's university transportation, but he

comes up in a very shabby-looking car, and we were taken aback.

We were not expecting that, and when we tried to get in, we

were shocked to see -- there were, like, open beer cans and

cigarette butts and used cigarettes strewn all around the car

SER0160
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floor.

So we rushed out at that point in time, but then we didn't

have any options because we were new. We didn't have anyone

who we knew. So this was the point of contact given to us. So

we just went ahead with that.

Q. Did you have any conversation with Mr. Karra about

Tri-Valley University?

A. Yeah. So that was another shocker. We were -- he was

taking us to this place, accomm- -- supposedly, we were

thinking an accommodation, but then he starts saying that

"There's no university like this. I don't know why you guys

came here. You applied for some wrong university. First of

all, there's no university. We go and check that place. It's

not a good university. It's some small room or something."

So we were shocked because he is supposed to be the

representer from the university, and we just didn't know what

to say. He keeps saying this, and then -- then we had in mind

that probably he would have had some kind of fall with the

university and probably that's why he's just saying the things.

Q. Let me just stop you for a moment, please.

Do I understand correctly that Mr. Karra was supposed to be

the representative of Tri-Valley University? Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. And then he was telling you there is no university?

A. Yes.

SER0161
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Q. Did you have a conversation with Susan Su on that day --

and can you remind us, please, approximately what day was this.

A. Should be end of May or -- yeah, end of May.

Q. Okay. We're still in May. Then yes.

A. Yeah, May or probably first week of June.

THE COURT: This is 2010?

THE WITNESS: '10.

BY MS. WEST:

Q. When you were at Tri-Valley University on that day, did you

have a discussion with Susan Su about the possibility of your

transferring?

A. Yes. I did ask her if I can get -- transfer to another

university because I'm not very sure of joining this

university.

Q. How did she respond?

A. So she -- she -- she did get angry at me because I think

she was -- I mean, she did not expect me to get a transfer

probably. So she did get angry at me, and she did tell that

it's not possible because there's a rule that states that you

have to do two semesters in that university. Whichever

university your visa is on, you have to do two semesters there

before you get a transfer to another university.

Q. Had you heard of that rule before?

A. No.

Q. What was your reaction?

SER0162
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A. Sorry.

Q. Sorry. I need to finish asking the question for the court

reporter. Thank you.

When she showed you the computer screen, what was she

showing you?

A. She was trying to show me that there was just the option of

terminating and not transferring, but I couldn't see -- the

text was small. So I was not obviously looking at it much.

So -- so she was just trying to show me that it's -- you can

only terminate -- she can only terminate me and not transfer.

So -- yeah. So she says, "This is how it is, and if you

want me to just terminate, I can just click it and terminate,

and that's all I can do."

Q. And so did you tell her that you wanted her to go ahead and

terminate you?

A. Yes, and since Karra gave me the go-ahead, it's -- since

he's a representer of that university, and so I just went by

his word and asked her to terminate me.

Q. And did you see her terminate you?

A. Yeah. She just -- I think just clicked it and terminated.

Q. I'm sorry. She clicked a button?

A. Yeah, just clicked a button, and she said I'm terminated

now. "You can just" -- "you can go ahead with your" --

"whatever you have in mind, want to do."

Q. Did you then make any efforts to transfer?

SER0163
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A. Yes. So I went back to the other university and talked to

the dean, and they -- again, the whole process of -- I give the

transcripts, and they issued me a new I-20. And when --

after -- after two or three days, the dean -- the DSO calls me

and says that I got -- "I'm not able to activate your I-20

because" --

MR. BABCOCK: Objection. Move to strike. Hearsay,

your Honor.

MS. WEST: It's --

THE COURT: The objection --

MS. WEST: It's being offered for the effect on the

listener, your Honor.

THE COURT: I'll let the witness finish and answer,

and I may strike it in a moment.

Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: So he calls me and says that he -- he's

not able to activate my I-20 because I was supposed to get

transferred from the other university, and since you are

terminated -- since I'm terminated, he's not able to activate

my I-20.

BY MS. WEST:

Q. Based on that information, did you do anything?

A. Yes. So -- so again, I was confused, and I didn't know how

to go about the whole thing because everything -- all these

paperworks were in India through the consultancy. So I was not

SER0164
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sure how to go through the whole thing.

So I asked for his advice, the DSO from the new university,

and he said, "Yeah. This is the only way. You should get a

transfer from the university, and since you are terminated,

it's" -- "you don't have" -- so at that point in time, I

realized that I don't even have a status to stay over here

because unfortunately I'm not even a student at that point in

time since she -- since she terminated me.

Q. Based on your conversation with the DSO from that other

school, did you reapproach Susan Su?

A. Yes. So I tried -- before that, I tried -- because the DSO

said, "Why don't you just talk to the USCIS and ask them for

their advice. Tell them what happened and see what they can do

about it, if they can reinstate the" -- "the status."

Q. Okay. And let me stop you again. You mentioned USCIS.

What is that?

MR. BABCOCK: I'm sorry, your Honor. Can we -- can I

get a ruling on my earlier objection?

THE COURT: Overruled.

MR. BABCOCK: Thank you.

BY MS. WEST:

Q. What is USCIS?

A. It's supposed to be the department for immigration

services. That's what I know.

Q. Okay. And so from your conversation -- did you contact

SER0165
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CIS?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Okay. So from your conversation with the DSO from that

other school and with CIS, did you reapproach Susan Su about

the transfer?

A. Yes.

Q. And what conversation did you have with Susan Su?

A. So I talked to her and told her that, "Well, because you've

terminated, I'm not able to get admission in the other

university. So is there any way you can help me out with the

transfer?"

She said, "That's not possible because you are terminated."

So I -- since she can -- she did tell me that it's not

possible. So that's it.

So one -- I'm not sure who I discussed with -- if it was

Vishal or -- I think it -- between all this, I had talked to

Vishal about all this, and he also advised me to just talk to

Susan Su, and that's -- that's when I talked to her, and she

said she can take me back into that -- into Tri-Valley

University and not transfer me.

Q. Okay. So do I understand right that Susan Su said she

could -- she couldn't transfer you but she could take you back

to Tri-Valley?

A. Yes. Yes.

Q. And what did you do?

SER0166
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she closed the doors of the building and left. So we were kind

of -- we were locked inside the building.

Q. How do you know you were locked inside as opposed to just

the door closed?

A. Well, she did -- I did see her using a key to lock it, and

I did try to open and leave, but I couldn't open.

Q. Who was locked inside?

A. It was me, my friend, and Vishal and the other guy, four of

us.

Q. Approximately how long did Susan Su lock you inside the

Tri-Valley office?

A. An hour.

Q. I'm sorry. About an hour?

A. Yeah.

Q. Were you able to eat lunch?

A. Yeah. We brought our lunch. I brought my lunch.

Q. How many hours did you work that day?

A. Eight hours, I guess. Yeah, eight.

Q. And were you paid?

A. Yes.

Q. How much did Susan Su pay you?

A. $60.

Q. At some point, did you receive a transcript from Tri-Valley

University?

A. Yeah, I did get a transcript, more than one transcripts.

SER0167
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subjects. She gave me I-20, registration I-20.

Q. Did you pay any tuition that day?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you --

A. I paid a thousand dollars in check.

MR. RHYNE: Your Honor, may I approach the witness?

THE COURT: You may.

(Government's Exhibit 530 marked for identification.)

BY MR. RHYNE:

Q. I'm going to hand you what we've marked as Exhibit 530 for

identification and ask you to take a look at it.

A. Sure.

Q. I'll refer you to Page -- Page 3, 530-003.

A. This is my first semester fees.

Q. I'm sorry?

A. This is my first semester fees, thousand dollars.

Q. This is the check that you wrote that day?

A. Yes.

MR. RHYNE: Your Honor, we'd offer Exhibit 530 into

evidence.

MR. BABCOCK: Actually -- no objection.

THE COURT: Exhibit 530 is admitted.

(Government's Exhibit 530 received in evidence.)

MR. RHYNE: Can we publish Exhibit 530, Page 3,

please.

SER0168
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A. My friend.

Q. Oh. She was working there?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

A. She only -- only swiped the card.

Q. After you enrolled in these classes, did you ever receive

any information about how to attend these classes?

A. No. I never attended any classes.

Q. Okay. Did you receive any direction --

A. Like --

Q. -- on how --

A. I used to receive some -- sorry.

Q. Did you receive any direction on how to attend these

classes?

A. No.

Q. Did you ever inquire with Tri-Valley University about these

classes?

A. Yes, a couple of times that I couldn't log in because I --

I had to reset the password.

Q. So you made attempts to log into the classes?

A. Yes.

Q. Tell me what happened when you tried to log into the

classes.

A. I -- they used to have, like, one link, but I never tried

to log in.
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Q. Okay. Were you ultimately able to talk to her?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Tell me about that conversation. What did Dr. Su

say to you when you told her you wanted to transfer?

A. "I want to transfer out from this university."

Q. What did she say?

A. The same thing.

Q. Which was?

A. I have to pay the rest of the course fees if I have to

transfer out.

Q. Okay. What did you do at that point?

A. I gave one check to her -- post-dated checks, same like

before, and I came, and I cancelled that check.

Q. Why did you cancel that check?

A. At that point, I don't have money in my account. I don't

know if she deposit, like, maybe before next day.

Q. Did you have any more contact with Tri-Valley University

after that day?

A. No.

Q. When was the next time you discussed Tri-Valley University?

A. That is the last time I went.

Q. Did agents from Homeland Security come and talk to you --

A. Yes.

Q. -- after that?

Approximately how long after that?
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A. Yes.

Q. Who trained you?

A. Susan.

Q. Did -- did Dr. Su train you on how to handle admissions

into Tri-Valley University?

A. Yes.

Q. What instruction did she give you about admissions?

A. She gave verbal instruction like "Give admission to whoever

asks for the admission in the e-mail" -- "in" -- "from e-mail.

So anyone who wants to get admission in any field, either

engineering or nursing or any field, you just give them

admission."

Q. Now, Tri-Valley University required an applicant to send

certain things when they applied; is that correct?

A. Yes, correct and not correct also because previously they

say -- they say, "Check for any attachment." Okay? "Check for

any attachment with the e-mail and still search for their

diploma." But later on, they say, "No matter what the e-mail

does, no matter what kind of attachment they send, just give

them admission. Even if it's a picture with their puppy, just

give them admission."

Q. Okay. Who told you that?

A. Yeah. Susan.

Q. Now, you said even if they give a picture of a puppy, give

them admission?
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A. She said, "You" -- "all you need to do is reply that all

classes are online."

Q. Did she give you instruction on how to respond to students

who were calling and saying, "My classes aren't working. What

do I do?"

A. Send a reply like "We are working on it," maybe some words

on some technical form. "We are working on it."

Q. Did she give you training on how to respond to student

questions when they would call and say, "I can't log into my

classes. I'm worried about my grades"?

A. Same reply. "Classes" -- "just" -- "just wait for some

time. Classes are working, and we are working on grades."

Q. Did she give you instruction on how to respond to student

inquiries about CPT?

A. Yes. She said --

Q. Can you -- what's CPT?

A. It's Complimentary Practical Training.

Q. What did she tell you to tell students who were asking

about CPT?

A. So they ask -- she told me that if students want CPT,

they're required to register their classes first. They need to

give you -- give you class's name that they want to register

and offer letter from employment, offer letter.

Q. Now, you mentioned earlier people would be admitted into

various fields?
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Q. What did she tell you about those?

A. Tuition payment -- she said -- she said all you need to --

whenever e-mail came that student wants to pay the fee and

student say, "These are the classes I want to enroll," all you

need to do is take those credit card letters. There's one

credit card machine. Swipe the credit card and some amount of

money.

I don't -- if they say it's the first half -- they have an

instrument system. So you might need to take the first half --

swipe for the first half, or else -- if the student says, "I

need to pay for the whole semester" -- so I take out the

whole -- all the money and swipe the card for that.

Q. Would you ever process payments that were made on the

phone?

A. Yes.

Q. How would you do that?

A. A student calls and says, "I" -- "I want to pay my fees.

The" -- "and this is my credit card data. Can you do it right

now?" And that's actually first priority when they call. They

say we need to do that.

Q. First priority was to process the payment?

A. Yes. So anyone -- I mean, anytime they call it and do --

want to do it on the phone, then we need to do it right away.

It's not -- others -- we need to handle on --

Q. Who told you that?
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A. Susan.

Q. Did Dr. Su give you instructions on creating transcripts?

A. Yes.

Q. What instructions did Dr. Su give you about transcripts at

Tri-Valley University?

A. Transcript -- to create a transcript for any student, we

need to do it -- we first need to know which classes he is

currently enrolled. If -- if he already -- if they've already

completed one folder in a laptop that -- if you already have

that in our system, then just need to give them a grade: A, A,

and A-minus.

Q. Did Dr. Su tell you why they needed an A, A, and A-minus?

A. She said, like, she don't want to give anyone a B. She

don't want this student to get a B grade.

Q. Did she tell you why?

A. She said it doesn't look good. It should be A, A, or

A-minus because sometime if you give all of them A, A, A, it

doesn't look -- it looks like you made it up. So that's why

she said A, A, and A-minus.

Q. I want to get back to the topic of student admissions.

Would you ever approach Dr. Su with questions about student

applications?

A. Yes.

Q. How would she respond when you would go to her with

questions?
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A. I -- so when I first started, I asked her many questions

like "Should we give them admission?" because I don't know

anyone, and she's my first point of contact. And I said,

"Should we give them admission?"

And she says, "Yes. Give them my admission and write

admission letter and create an I-20."

And I asked -- sometimes asked, "Should we need to collect

any application" -- "application file because that's what first

they say. What is it? Application document?"

She'd say, "No, no need to do that. Just give them

admission."

That's the answer. No matter -- no matter what, if they

provide attachment, if they provide a diploma, if they provide,

not provide -- if they say, "I need admission," give them

admission.

Q. How would Dr. Su react when you would reapproach her with

other questions?

A. She started actually yelling at us. She started yelling

really loudly and in front of other people also, and she

started -- "just give them admission. Just give them

admission." She started yelling so loudly that clearly -- she

said, "Don't ask any questions. Okay? Just give them

admission."

Q. Did you take any steps to -- did you take any steps to

where you could go to another source to have your questions
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A. Well, I -- I mean, I edit few things in it.

Q. And this would be updated with new information; is that

correct?

A. Yes, but actually I tried it once, and she didn't like it.

So she again give it to me, and she didn't like it and said,

"Stop doing that." That's what she told me.

Q. As you sit here today, do you recall any instance where

Tri-Valley University denied admission to a student applicant?

A. I don't think so.

Q. I want to talk a little bit about SEVIS now.

Can you tell the jury how a person accesses SEVIS?

A. So when we -- whenever we go to Tri-Valley University, she

give us laptop and open a SEVIS website and enter a password

and give it to us.

Q. Who would enter the password?

A. She -- Susan.

Q. And then she would hand it to you when it was already

logged in?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you familiar with the address 555 East El Camino Real?

A. Yes.

Q. How are you familiar with that address?

A. So that's the address she want us to put in new I-20.

Q. Who are you referring to?

A. Susan. Sorry.
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Q. And she gave you that instruction?

A. Yeah, Susan gave me that instruction to enter that same

address.

Q. Are you familiar with the term "designated school official"

or DSO?

A. Yeah. I mean, I -- I know that.

Q. And how are you familiar with that term?

A. Actually, if I'm not wrong, it's in the I-20; right?

Q. Do you remember names of DSO's on I-20's?

A. I mean, I don't know whether they are DSO. I know a few

names in the I-20. One is Wenchao Wang, and another is Sophie

Su.

Q. Okay. When you would print I-20's from SEVIS --

A. Uh-huh.

Q. -- on a particular day under a particular SEVIS account,

what would the DSO name be that came out?

A. Uh-huh. I mean, I don't know it's a DSO name, but I know

it's on the right side, the bottom right side end. It's -- I

mean, Wenchao Wang and Sophie Su and Susan Su, those three

names. Whenever I print out, either of these three names shows

that on this.

Q. As you print I-20's throughout the day, what would you do

with that?

A. So that's the same assignment every day. Whatever I-20 you

print out, you keep -- make a stack of it and at the end of the
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day give it to Susan for signing it.

Q. You would take a stack of I-20's to her?

A. Yeah.

Q. What would Dr. Su do when she got the I-20's?

A. She'd start signing it -- signing all the I-20's, and after

that, we need to post it.

Q. What would Dr. Su do if the I-20 was in the name of Wenchao

Wang?

A. She signed it.

Q. Which name would she sign?

A. Wenchao Wang.

Q. What if the I-20 was in the name of Sophie Su? What name

would she sign?

A. Yeah. She signed it in the name of Sophie Su also.

Q. How often would you see her do this?

A. I mean, it's daily. Whenever I work there, it's daily.

Q. During your employment at Tri-Valley University, did you

ever learn of a referral program, student referral program?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. What was that?

A. Actually, it's -- a referral program -- if you refer any

students to Tri-Valley University, you get -- I don't remember

the exact amount but something under $2,000 as a referral fee.

Q. Did you ever refer a student to Tri-Valley University?

A. No.
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while you were working at Tri-Valley University.

Did you ever see students come to attend physical classes?

A. No.

Q. Did you ever see students come in with backpacks going to

sit down at a desk and watch a lecture?

A. No.

Q. Did students ever come to you and complain about the fact

that there weren't classes?

A. I mean, in e-mail and on the phone, they complain

sometimes. In an e-mail, they'll say, "There is no classes.

We are there waiting for a professor, but nobody is there for a

long time," on the phone also, but the answer is always the

same.

Q. Whose answer was always the same?

A. Susan's answer is "We are working on the classes."

Q. Have you ever heard of ABS Consultancy?

A. Yes.

Q. How did you hear about it for the first time?

A. Actually, they never -- I mean, from e-mail the first time,

I know it's a U.S. consultancy because they are referring

students to Tri-Valley University, and I remember one guy from

ABS came to Tri-Valley University, and Susan -- Susan

introduced me to her -- him, and said, "This is a guy" -- "he's

from this consultancy, and he needs help with all his students

to register in classes."
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What was your -- what were you trying to explain in your last

answer --

A. So --

Q. -- about the lack of complaints?

A. -- in general -- if you say in general how many -- if I

got -- in my daily phone calls, I got a hundred phone calls

daily -- okay. In general, if you say how I'd characterize

these hundred phone calls, I do get more complaints. I will

say yes, 30 to 40 calls for -- regarding complaints about the

classes.

But if you characterize those 30, 40 and get -- and try to

get it right for different classes, okay. Then I will say for

this class, I get less complaints. This class, I get more

complaints, something like that. So that's how -- that's what

my statement in -- that's what I give in the statement. In the

statement, it says I have less complaints, but in general, I

got a lot more complaints about the classes.

Q. So you got more complaints about certain classes?

A. No, many. That's what I'm saying. If you -- if you sum up

all the classes complaints -- okay? -- it's a -- there are a

lot of complaints if you just go through my call records. Out

of hundred, that's 30 classes -- 30 complaints about the

classes. That's all -- that's all I want to say.

Q. How -- I don't understand, sir. Are you saying that

that -- that gives context to your statement that very few
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Q. At the time you enrolled in the classes, did you have an

expectation of whether they were going to be physical classes,

with a classroom where you sit down, or online classes?

A. Obviously, it would be a physical classes because --

Q. Did you learn that to be the case? Were there physical

classes?

A. No.

Q. What kinds of classes were offered to you?

A. After a couple of days, I went there, to the university,

and one of the guys sitting in the class -- in the office gave

me -- he said go online and register in this website, you'll

have online classes.

Q. Did you try to do that?

A. Yes.

Q. What happened when you tried to register online for these

classes?

A. Oh, one of the class was working and a couple of other

classes were not working. And, in fact, I called a couple of

times to the university to -- I was not able to log into that

university -- to the website or --

Q. When you say you weren't able to log into the website, do

you mean you weren't able to log in for the instruction?

A. Yes, that's --

Q. When you contacted the university to inform them of your

difficulty in logging into these classes, what response did you
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least is as much for the Government's benefit as mine but

partially for mine -- is to find out whether that's a final

decision or whether over the course of the evening she might

change her mind.

MR. BABCOCK: I think it's fine.

THE DEFENDANT: It's not.

MR. BABCOCK: Huh?

THE DEFENDANT: So now I'm -- I'm up to not -- not

testifying.

THE COURT: We'll check with you in the morning.

MR. BABCOCK: I'm being as certain as I can, your

Honor. I'm sorry.

THE COURT: I understand.

MR. BABCOCK: It's --

THE COURT: I -- I -- I won't inquire further

anymore.

Anything else for today?

MS. WEST: Yes. One matter, your Honor, just to flag

it for the Court. This may have been something we should have

addressed earlier through a motion in limine, and the way it

came in was sort of gradual. So at some point, it just seemed

like we had missed the opportunity to object on it.

There were a lot of references, as I'm sure your Honor

caught, particularly in the testimony of Agent Mackey to

forfeiture. Forfeiture, as the Court knows, is part of
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(In the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT: Good morning. We're starting somewhat later

than we normally do. You're a very punctual jury, and I

appreciate that very much. And we've not had to delay you

before this, and I apologize for that.

But I can say, with some high degree of confidence, that

that will not have any effect on the estimate that I had

previously given you, as I think you, yourself, will see a

little bit later on this morning.

First of all, I should tell you that Exhibit 705B was

admitted earlier this morning outside your presence. That is

just related to some of the transactions that you heard

testimony about from Agent Mackey yesterday. So that exhibit

will also be available for you during your deliberations, if

you want to see it.

With that having been said, would the Government like to

call another witness?

MR. RHYNE: Your Honor, the Government rests.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Rhyne.

Members of the jury, that concludes the presentation of

the Government's case in chief.

MR. BABCOCK: Your Honor, could we have a quick side bar?

THE COURT: Yes.

(A sidebar was held as follows, out of the hearing of

the jury.)
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THE COURT: We're at side bar outside of the hearing of

the jury.

MR. BABCOCK: Your Honor, I'm making my Rule 29 motion at

this point, judgment of acquittal on all counts. I understand

the Court's going to defer a ruling on that. I assume it's

still the Court's ruling.

THE COURT: Yes. As I indicated, anticipating you making

this motion, the Court will reserve ruling on Defendant's Rule

29 motion until after the jury has returned its verdict or

until such other time as the Court may say.

MR. BABCOCK: Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. RHYNE: Thank you.

(The sidebar conference was concluded.)

(Proceedings heard in open court.)

THE COURT: Mr. Babcock, does the defendant wish to call

a witness?

MR. BABCOCK: Your Honor, the defense also rests.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Babcock.

Members of the jury, that completes the evidence in this

case.

So if you were following along, I described the different

stages to you. You know that all that's left is for me to

instruct you in the law that you're to apply in case and then
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while you were doing whatever you were doing, that person was

standing on the street corner and they were not doing all the

other things they could have been doing. And the reason for

that is because you were late."

Now, he said, "I promise you one thing. Your time is not

more valuable than my time."

So most people were not late to that class. That was a

very effective way of making that point.

Dr. Su, your time is not more important than the time of

the lawyers, the Court and the jury. I don't have a lot of

choices. I don't have a lot of tools available to me to make

this happen that you come to court on time. As I said before,

I don't think it's asking very much of somebody in a trial to

be on time, especially their trial. This is a condition of

your release in this case, and I'll let Mr. Babcock explain to

you -- if it needs to be explained with more clarity -- what

that means. The Court's in recess.

THE CLERK: All rise. The Court is in recess.

(Recess taken from 12:22 P.M. to 12:36 P.M.)

(In the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT: All right. Back on the record. All the

jurors are in their assigned seats.

Mr. Babcock, defendant's closing argument.

MR. BABCOCK: Thank you, Your Honor.

Good afternoon. I always get to close in the lunch hour
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for some reason. I hope you got a little blood sugar left.

I have a different view, obviously, of this case. This

case is weak. This case -- if you look at the evidence for

each count, this case is weak.

They have to prove each of these counts beyond a

reasonable doubt. And if it wasn't clear already, let me make

it crystal clear now: If there's a single element for any of

the crimes that they can't prove, then you have to find my

client not guilty. They have to prove everything and they have

to prove everything beyond a reasonable doubt. You can assume

nothing. If they haven't proven it, then it doesn't exist,

once you get back in the jury room. And they haven't proven

these charges.

They've showed you a lot of documents and made a lot of

insinuations, but what does it prove? I don't think any of

these charges have been proven, and I'll go through them a

little bit -- all of them, in more detail, to tell you why.

This case has not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Half the indictment -- more than half, actually, are fraud

charges. Twelve counts of wire fraud, two counts of mail

fraud, and then one count of conspiracy to commit visa fraud

and four counts of visa fraud. Fraud. Fraud.

And the fraud that's charged, the fraud that they have to

prove, is that my client, Dr. Susan Su, in 2008, came up with a

scheme to defraud, a plan to defraud, foreign students. That

SER0196

  Case: 14-10499, 04/17/2015, ID: 9500201, DktEntry: 26-3, Page 44 of 158



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Kelly Polvi, CSR, RMR, FCRR - 503.779.7406

1862

was her plan. That was her scheme. This whole school, this

whole university that she started from scratch, by herself,

that this was all just a big -- to use the word that we've

heard a lot -- ruse. She never planned to have a school; it

was a cover. It was really a scheme to defraud foreign

students.

Have they proven that in the last two weeks of testimony?

Is that what you heard? It's not what I've heard. I don't

think they've proven it. And you, obviously, are the ones that

have to decide.

Have they proven that for more than two years my client

had a -- created this scheme to defraud? That it was all her

idea? She was the mastermind?

Let's think about it a little from the beginning.

Because where did she come from? You know a little about her

background. She got her Ph.D. at Cal in engineering in some

technical field I really don't understand.

If you look at the transcript, the transcripts are in

evidence, all the courses she took. Did she take a single

class in education? A single class in law? A single class in

business administration or in public administration or anything

that would be relevant to starting a school from scratch and to

running a school after it's started? No. It's not there.

It's all MEMS, I think they called it. MEMS. Various

engineering courses. That's her background. That's what she
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taught at San Francisco State. That's what she knows how to

do. She knows engineering, and she knows how to teach. She'd

never run a school before. She'd never started a business.

She'd never started a business from scratch.

And this isn't just some business down on the street

corner where you open a store and start selling things.

Starting a school is a complicated affair. You've got to come

up with courses, you're going to have a curricula for the

courses, you got to get students, you got to have facilities.

And if you want to teach foreign students, you have to jump

through all these hoops for the federal government.

And the Government's theory is that when she started this

school back in the spring of 2008 her big plan, her big scheme,

was all just a fraud.

'Cause she worked that first year. Let's be clear. She

didn't -- she didn't have any students. She had none, at the

start.

Did she have financing? She was doing this out of her

own pocket. She was doing this out of her own heart. For all

of 2008. She had to figure out how to incorporate a business,

which she did. In the spring of 2008, she incorporated

Tri-Valley University. And then she had to put together a

catalogue and figure out what kind of classes were going to be

offered.

And she had to find people, start finding people to teach
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those classes.

She taught herself. You've heard that. There are

classes that she's more than qualified to teach. But you heard

she talked to other people, people -- find out if they'd be

interested. She asked Professor Liou, from

San Francisco State, whether he would agree to help out with

this school. He said that he would. She asked some other

people that she met in -- through her husband's work and in her

field if they'd be interested, and they said that they would.

Did they all sign contracts and negotiate salaries and

stuff like that? No. But she was taking -- she was starting a

process. She was taking the steps. She did -- she did get

this school off the ground. 1,700 students. From zero to

1,700. 1,760 I guess. From zero to 1,700 in less than two

years.

Well, that's not true. She already had some students

before she got approval to admit foreign students. Not nearly,

nearly so many. But she did have students.

But did she know she was going to grow from, whatever, a

dozen students, to 1,700 students in less than two years? Was

she prepared to manage that process? To deal with it? She

wasn't.

You know, one of the interesting things about this case,

they spent a long time investigating my client. More than six

months, you heard. Eight months. From May 2010, before they
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finally shut the school down in January 2011.

And they knew who all the students were. They just went

in to SEVIS, typed in Tri-Valley University, and they got a

list of all the enrolled students. 1,760 of them. And they

went and they talked to most of them. You heard that. I think

from Agent Mackey. They talked to around 900 students,

something like that. 900 students.

And out of 900 students that they talked to, the best

they could come up with was the eight students who testified.

That's all they got?

Their very first witness, Vandana Virmani, she was

already legally in the country. She didn't need a visa. Her

husband had an H-1 visa. He was working here. She said she

knew from the start, she knew exactly what she was getting

into. She knew she was going to be taking on-line courses.

That's what she expected. She never expected to get the class.

You heard her say that. It's been two weeks. But that's what

she said.

But she wasn't happy with it, she was having trouble

logging in, and the material offered really wasn't that great,

so she asked for her money back.

And did she get it? She asked for her money back, you

remember, not until pretty far along into the semester. I

think it was like five or six weeks, if I remember right. She

ended up getting most of her money back. Not all of it. She
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didn't ask right away.

But that's not fraud. Does that sound like fraud? You

have to decide. This is the best they got. These eight

students they put on from more than 1,700 potential witnesses,

or 900, whichever pool you decide to compare it to. And these

witnesses -- we'll get more to the witnesses later.

So what's the most important thing they have to prove for

the fraud counts? They have to prove my client came up with a

scheme to defraud.

Have they proven that? Well, after listening to

Ms. West's opening, one of the main things they're relying on

is the I-17 petition, the application for permission to be able

to admit foreign students. And we've gone through that

petition in great detail.

What didn't you hear? What do you know? You go to the

website, you log in, and there's a form to fill out.

Do we know what kind of instructions Ms. Su was given?

Dr. Su? Exactly what she was informed when she filled out the

application? No. We don't.

Did anybody help her fill out the petition? There was no

lawyers involved. This wasn't some big, fancy affair. This

was her on her laptop at her house, sitting in bed or sitting

on the couch, trying to fill out this form on this federal

website.

Is it that complicated? It's not particularly
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complicated. You want to check the boxes. What are you going

to offer? Et cetera, et cetera.

And it's interesting to note. Nowhere on this form is

there any sort of request for information, "How many students

do you plan to admit? How much do you want to grow your

school, if we let you admit foreign students?" Right?

She says question 22 -- this is Exhibit 1, the first

document you saw in this case, how many -- "What's the average

annual number of students?" Thirty. Thirty a year. That's

not that many. She was starting small.

"What's your average annual number of teachers or

instructors?" Nine.

Well, then, how many instructors are listed? A lot more

than nine. I want to know, where's the fraud here? This is

all given to the people at SEVP. The Student Exchange Visitor

Program. They get all this stuff.

And then a guy comes out from the program, he's got this

information, he looks at the site, he meets with Dr. Su, he

asks her a bunch of questions. Why didn't we hear from him?

Why didn't we hear from anybody at the Student Exchange Visitor

Program who had one-on-one dealings with my client? These

people still work there. That's what Ms. Warner said. Why not

bring out the guy that came to the site and talked to her about

the school, talked to her about what her plans were, talked to

her about all this information, who looked at the facilities?
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That's a reasonable doubt right there. Because their whole

case rests on the I-17.

The Government's theory: My client already had a plan.

She already had a scheme to defraud. And this was the first

big step. Ms. West said it several times. Everything after

this was obtained by fraud because the Government gave my

client permission to admit foreign students based on this

information.

But have they proven that? Have they proven that, when

my client submitted this, there was a big scheme to defraud?

Because it really boils down to what was my client's intent

when she filled out this form in 2008. What was she planning

to do. What was going through her head at that point.

Has the Government proven that? Their whole case rests

on it, so why don't they bring out the people that have direct

knowledge of it? And we know there's at least two, if not

more, people that she dealt with at SEVIS in getting the

petition approved.

There's the person that -- there's the person that came

out, for one, for starters, that came out to the site and met

with her, and then there's the person who ended up giving the

approval down the road. And there's some communication back

and forth in between.

The Government has to prove my client's intent when she

submitted this form. Why haven't they put on the best evidence
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of that? Why haven't they put on the witnesses who have

firsthand knowledge, firsthand interaction with Dr. Su back in

2008, witnesses who still work for the federal government,

witnesses who could talk about what she was told about what the

requirements are, what she knew, what she understood, what her

plans were? They haven't done that.

You should find my client not guilty of all the fraud

charges based on that alone. That is a reasonable doubt. The

Government's failure to put on the most important firsthand

witnesses in this case. Because it all goes back to 2008, all

the fraud charges.

Instead, she called the head of the department, Susan

Warner. She didn't have anything to do with processing my

client's application. That's not even her job. She didn't

even work for the department back then. She was a private

contractor for the Department of Homeland Security.

What does she know about Dr. Su? She doesn't know

anything. She doesn't have any information about what my

client was told, about what my client understood.

You should acquit my client on the first 14 counts based

on that fact alone. That is a reasonable doubt.

Now, years later, the Government, they sure have a lot of

quibbles with exactly what was submitted here. They haven't

even answered all the questions. These documents raise serious

questions. Why, for example, we know -- we were told that this
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form is submitted electronically, Exhibit 1. That you fill it

out online and then it uploads somewhere in a computer in

Washington, DC.

Though I'm curious. Because if you look at it in

Exhibit 1, down at page 2, it's got that received stamp. That

received stamp that, according to Ms. Warner, means it was

mailed. Received in the mail room. That's a reason to doubt

whether this is a wire fraud at all. It says it was received

by mail. This is charged as Count 1. This document.

And why -- we know there was more communication. It

wasn't just her submitting this, my client submitting. It

wasn't my client just submitting this form online and then

waiting for the approval.

She had some interaction with the people at SEVIS, she

writes this letter on December 11th, "Dear Ms. Deuell, I'm

writing you in response to your email," she gives copies of her

sister and -- sister and brother-in-law's passports and some

information about the accreditation in California, and says her

sister and brother-in-law had taken the web course. That's all

the government asks for.

And this, you'll remember, is after the site review. The

gentleman had already come out and met with Dr. Su at the

school at the site and looked at it and had his questions

answered. And this is the only follow-up they asked for.

These documents raise more questions than they answer.
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This is page 2 of Exhibit 3. Once again, this is the first

page of I-17. You'll remember Ms. Warner identified the

signature there of the gentleman at SEVIS who approved the

petition. That's his signature. It was approved on

February 17th. There's that same mail stamp; right? This does

look like a copy that was mailed later.

What I don't understand is why the one that was

supposedly submitted online is also stamped like it was mailed.

But you remember there's some different versions of this

document. There's that version in Exhibit 3 and then there's

-- I'll put it side by side -- nearly, but not exactly, the

same document in Exhibit 7. Page 1 of Exhibit 7. Looks like

the same handwriting; it is the same signature. I asked

Ms. Warner that. That's the same fellow at SEVIS who looked at

these and signed them. It's the same date.

But if you look at it, the one's not just a -- I'm doing

this all wrong. The one's not just a copy of the other; right?

I mean, the handwriting's similar but it's not the same. There

were at least -- there were at least two of these at the

office, and they say different things.

One says, at the bottom, the articulation agreements are

acceptable, and the other does not. Then the other says

private school of higher education only approved for classes

listed in Section 19.

And those are the classes. Those are the classes that
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Dr. Su was qualified to teach and that Dr. Liou, Professor Liou

of San Francisco State, approved. You'll remember, in the

articulation agreement, that he did sign.

These documents, to me -- and you have to decide, they

raise some real doubts. What exactly happened here? What

exactly happened at SEVIS between SEVIS and my client? Because

they, they have the burden of proof here. I don't have to

explain these doubts. They have the burden of showing that

there's no doubt here exactly what happened has been proven

beyond a reasonable doubt. I don't think it has.

And there's a simple way to clear it up. Call Mr. Cody.

Put him on the stand. And he could tell you, "This is what

happened. This is why there's different ones of these dated

the same day. This is what I told Dr. Su."

Why is this important? It's important for two reasons.

Because it all comes down to my client's intent.

And this is the best evidence. Exhibit 1 is the best

evidence of what my client understood back in 2008 when she

first asked for permission to teach foreign students.

And to follow up a little on that point, I mentioned

earlier about my client's education. It's no question, you

know, where her training is. It's in engineering. And if you

look at some of the documents that she did write, for example,

one we saw yesterday, I think it was Exhibit 800, my client's

claiming it's the Government.
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You can look at the way it's written and decide for

yourself what her level of sophistication was in these matters.

What her real ability to deal with these things was. This

was -- strike that.

The Government has so many quibbles about this I-17.

What else do they allege that proves that she had a scheme to

defraud, she made up a scheme to defraud? Well, they say she

didn't have physical classes. She just had online classes. At

times they seem to say there were no classes, but we know

that's not true.

Mr. Kundur yesterday, one of the last witnesses,

testified he had some difficulty logging into everything, but

he did -- the classes he was able to log into he did attend,

and that it was a virtual class. That there was a professor

there, there was instructions, there was testing. He said that

the attendance was taken.

This is their witness. Their witness confirming that

there were virtual classes here. This wasn't just some sham.

Were there logistic difficulties? Absolutely. You'll notice

most of their witness -- most of the testimony all relates to

2010. They don't focus back at the start, when it was small,

before she had any foreign students, what the classes were like

then. It's just later, when there's a lot of people trying to

log in.

She was dealing with it the best she could, but obviously
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it wasn't quite up to speed.

But that's not proof of an intent to defraud. If she was

trying, if she was trying, then they haven't proven their case.

And she was trying to make it better. She didn't stay in

that original small building; she did get a bigger building.

She did invest in growing the school to meet the needs of the

growing students.

The Government focused a lot on -- at least in the first

week, about these articulation agreements. Looking at the

different documents that were written at SEVIS about those, I

don't see how you can find that anything has been proven beyond

a reasonable doubt.

But there's -- let's be clear, there's not even -- there

were three articulation agreements, one of them there's no

question was legitimate. There's been no evidence and no claim

that the third articulation wasn't valid. Their quibble is

with two.

Once again, Central Florida University articulation

agreement. Whose signature was on there? My client's

brother's. He was a professor at that university.

Did the Government call him to say she didn't have my

authority to use my signature? No. They called the head of

the department who didn't have anything to do with this.

All he can testify to is general practice and general

procedure. He didn't say exactly what Professor Su, the other
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Professor Su was told, what his understanding was, whether he

knew or not he had the authority to do this.

What about Professor Liou from San Francisco State?

Because he admitted. He said, "Yeah, I signed one of these

articulation agreements. I knew Dr. Su. I agreed to help her

out with the school." He says, "I sent an e-signature from

China because I was spending a lot of time in China." He said,

"I didn't sign the second one." And the second one is just the

e-signature from the first one.

Well, Professor Liou had been very helpful with my

client.

And you remember, there was a third professor involved,

Professor Hu. When my client was interviewed by Agent Mackey

back in January 2011 for six hours, there was another professor

at San Francisco State involved, Professor Hu, and the

Government didn't put him on either.

I keep saying this because the burden always stays with

the Government. I don't have to prove a thing. Dr. Su doesn't

have to prove a thing.

When you got on this jury, I asked every single one of

you if you get on this jury will you hold the Government to its

burden of proof. Because that's the job here. That's the job.

It's more of an analytic -- objective analytic procedure. It's

nothing against Mr. Rhyne and Ms. West. The question is, what

have they proven. Have they proven these charges beyond a
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reasonable doubt.

What else does the Government have to prove? On the

fraud charges, they have to prove materiality. They have to

prove basically that these were important. That any, any

falsehoods or discrepancies were significant, they were

material. Was this Stanford University? No. It was a

small -- very small, originally -- school in Pleasanton.

And we heard some complaints about, "I thought it was

going to be a better school. I thought there were going to be

physical classes." But you know what? Sometimes you get what

you pay for. That doesn't mean it's fraud, okay?

All these students looked around at more than one school,

not just TVU. I asked all the students who testified about the

fees. And you'll remember every one of them said TVU was the

cheapest. It was cheaper than that school down in

Santa Clara. ITU. It was cheaper than all the other schools

we heard about.

And there were several. That's one of the reasons they

chose this school. Because it was cheaper.

So they knew they weren't going -- they knew. They knew

they weren't going to be getting everything that they would

want, would expect at a school where they're paying 15-,

$20,000 a semester. They were paying 2,700 bucks, and they

didn't even have to pay it up front; they were allowed to pay

it in installments.
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And the Government keeps saying this case was about

greed. That's what they said in their opening statement. This

case is about greed. Well, the tuition didn't sound very

greedy and the collections didn't either.

We heard some of these students, they didn't even -- they

didn't even pay off their tuition. They'd make the first

thousand dollars' installment and that was it.

And Mr. Patel, who worked there for about a month and a

half in 2010, Parth Patel, who was there daily, saw Dr. Su

daily, saw how this operation was conducted, and when he was --

he was interviewed by the agents, what did he say? He said, "I

didn't think Dr. Su did it for the money." He didn't want to

admit that for me on the stand; remember? We had quite a

struggle with that. But when it was just him and the agents

and not me confronting him in the court, he said, "This wasn't

about the money."

I'm not making this up. This is -- this is the best

witnesses they had out of 1,700 students. Their own witnesses

told them this was not about the money. What else do they have

to prove? All these wire charges. All these wire fraud

charges. They have to prove that the wiring itself, that the

defendant used or caused to be used the wires to carry out or

attempt to carry out an essential part of the scheme.

So you're going to have to go through all these wires one

by one and ask yourself, "Was this an essential part?" And if
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you have any doubt, if you have a reasonable doubt -- not any

doubt, but if you have a reasonable doubt, then you have to

find my client not guilty.

The I-17. Well, if there was a scheme you'd have to

decide whether that -- you'd also have to decide whether it's

material. We already talked about that. Was I-17 an essential

part? I guess that it was. The school would never have gotten

the permission to admit foreign students without it.

What about this email in Count 2? Email. Mr. Barghav in

India, saying, "I got F-1 approval; I'd like to start getting

some foreign students. Can you help me out?"

Is that -- she showed you that email. Was that email

essential to this alleged scheme? How would any of these, how

would any of these alleged wirings further the scheme? Because

almost all of them, all of them, have to do with what the

agents did. Except for those first two. Those are the only

two that Dr. Su did on her own. The rest of them were all

created by the agents asking her to -- asking her to admit

students. Asking her to email things. These are things

created by the agents. They weren't part of the school's --

some sort of scheme at the school.

But you're going to have to go through them. Most of

them, Counts 3 through -- well, I guess one, one was an agent

undercover, but the rest of these relate to people that didn't

exist or hadn't really applied to this school. Were those
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essential to anything? Let's talk a little about these, these

ruse operations. Because the Government spent a lot of time

and a lot of energy on it. Because you remember in May 2010 my

client found out that Anjiray Dirisanala ended up basically

stealing from the school. And he made something like $20,000.

And she told him not to come back. Oh, I'm sorry, it was a

different reason. She learned that a student's credit card had

been used outside of the school, so she assumed it was somebody

working in the office and she reported it to Pleasanton police

and she told Anji to take a break while it was being

investigated. At that point he goes to Immigration. His

friend Ron Krishna Karra takes him there, introduces him to

Agent Mackey, and they begin an investigation.

And what do they do? They just come out and talk to her,

say, "We want to look into your school more. Can we see a

little more of what's going on?" No. They start an

eight-month investigation and end up shutting the whole thing

down. Most of the counts of the indictment, almost all of

them, have to do with these ruse operations. They sent them in

and said, "Try to enroll Mr. Agrawat," who doesn't even exist.

"Try to enroll Mohammed Rizwan," who doesn't even exist. And

does he do it? Do they get enrolled? They do.

But my client doesn't know that these people aren't

actually enrolling. You remember he goes in and he says, "I've

got some friends. I want to enroll some friends." How is that
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evidence of my client's intent to defraud? Did she go and

check for every transcript right away, check their prior

degrees? No.

But you know what? All these students, they all had

degrees. Every one of them had at least a Bachelor's. One of

them already had an MBA. I forget who it was. Maybe

Mr. Ignatius.

These students were legitimately qualified to be

students. There's no question about that. You heard that they

were supposed to get prior degrees and transcripts. But did

they always do it? Apparently not. That doesn't make it a

fraud. These people were legitimately students, at least as

far as my client knew, and that's what counts. That's what

counts on all the fraud charges. What about the visa fraud?

Let's strike that. Before we get there, there's the conspiracy

to commit visa fraud. What do you have to find? You have to

find the Government proved beyond a reasonable doubt that there

was an agreement between my client and other members of a

conspiracy to commit visa fraud. There was an agreement.

Where is the proof of that? Anybody get up there and say

"Yeah, Dr. Su came to me, she said -- she said, 'I want to make

a deal with you. We're going to admit all these foreign

students, even though they're not qualified, or even though

they don't have all the necessary paperwork'?" No, nobody said

that. They haven't proven that. Did they prove that she
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worked with some people? Sure. People that worked in the

office, Anjiray Dirisanala, Parth Patel. But just employing

them does not make them co-conspirators. You have to find,

beyond a reasonable doubt, that there was an agreement to

commit visa fraud. That there was a plan.

And what is the visa fraud? All the visa fraud -- they

haven't charged, by the way, any of the actual students as visa

fraud counts; right? Because these people were lawfully in the

country. They have to prove that my client forged or falsely

made a document, and the documents they're relying on for each

of these counts -- this is 16, 17, 18, and 19, is an I-20, an

I-20. That these were forged.

Were they forged? No. The Government hasn't proven

that. Were there -- did my client sign in her sister's name?

Absolutely. Did she sign her brother-in-law's name?

Absolutely. That doesn't make it a forgery. It's not a

forgery if you have someone's permission. Secretaries sign for

their boss. Husband's and wives sign for each other. That

doesn't make it a forgery.

It's a forgery if you sign someone's name without their

authorization. Does this prove that my client did not have

authorization to sign Sophie Su, to sign Vince Wang? No. They

haven't even tried to prove it. They want you to assume it.

They didn't put on a single witness to say, "Dr. Su did not

have permission to sign her sister's name." And without that
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evidence, you can't assume that she didn't have authorization.

And the same is true of her brother-in-law. They have to

prove it. Have they proven that? There wasn't a single shred

of evidence on it. They just want you to assume that because

she signed someone's else's name, that's a forgery. But what

they really want you to assume is she didn't have

authorization. They also have to prove -- or they could prove

it in the alternative instead of proving that it was forged.

They could say that it was falsely made.

All of these I-20s, as far as my client knew, were for

real people. There's no claim that anyone was admitted under a

phony name, anyone was using anyone else's name; right?

There's a lot of quibble about, "Well, they used the same

address and they used the same income." But does that really

matter?

I asked, you know, Dr. Warner about it. What's this

address for? We actually -- we went over the regulations.

Immigration wants an address. If you're a student in the

United States, they want an address to contact you.

Is there any evidence that anybody ever tried or actually

needed to contact one of the foreign students at these

addresses? No. Does the address really matter? No. Does

income really matter? I guess you should ask. I mean, do they

really check up on it? Did any agents ever say, "Yeah, I went

to any of these students at Tri-Valley University and I checked
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on their income and it wasn't what it said it was on their

I-20"? No. None of that really matters.

Okay. The next count is the giving a false document to a

government agent. In this case we're talking about on

September 24th, during one of the ruse operations, which was

the email to Agent Taylor for the fictitious person, Dirikani,

who was the foreign student.

Have they proved that my client knew that that document

was false? Have they proved that she knew that this wasn't

really a student? Because you remember there was -- of these

phony names that were given to TVU, they actually used --

picked a name that happened to coincide -- it was back-flipped,

but coincided with a real student. They used the name Mohammed

Rizwan, but it turns out there either was a student named

Rizwan Mohammed or Rizwana Mohammed.

And even the agent -- sorry, even Anji Dirisanala, when

he went there, was confused about the first and last name and

he had to go out and ask the agent to figure it out himself.

He went into TVU, he wasn't sure what the first name was, he

wasn't sure what the last name was.

Count 20, you also have to find that this email to Agent

Taylor was material. That it was material to the Homeland

Security. I don't think they've proven that.

The alien harboring counts also relate to Anjiray

Dirisanala, as well as Vishal Dasa. If you look at the
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elements, that should be an easy not guilty. They say my

client harbored, concealed or shielded Vishal Dasa? Their

theory is that by giving him a job she was harboring him in

that she was concealing him from Immigration? I don't even get

that. They also have to prove that he was not -- that she knew

he was not lawfully in the country. Well, that's not what he

testified to. That's not what either of them testified to.

They were both lawfully admitted to go to other schools, and

that her purpose was to help him avoid detection by the

Immigration authorities.

Where is the evidence of that? They didn't present any

facts on that.

I'll note that the end of the instruction -- and this is

Instruction 54, which defines the alien harboring -- an alien's

not lawfully in this country if the person was not duly

admitted by an Immigration officer.

Neither of them said that. Neither of them said they

snuck into the country or anything like that. There's just no

evidence on that. You have to find her not guilty on those

charges. That's Counts 22 and 24. Neither of them ever said

that they told her that they were here illegally.

What about the unlawful access charges -- charge, which

is Count 25? They say my client didn't have the authority to

access SEVIS. Well, she did have the authority. They gave her

the authority to access SEVIS. So they talked a little bit and
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said, "Well she aided somebody else. She aided and abetted

somebody else in unlawfully accessing SEVIS." That's the

people that work in the office. But that's not what they said.

They said she would log in and she took steps, she was careful,

so that the staff didn't see the log-in information. She

wasn't sharing the log-in information. She didn't let the

staff use the computer until she completed the log in. That's

the accessing. There's -- nobody said that they were ever able

to log into SEVIS because Dr. Su gave them the information or

showed them how to do it.

We're almost through this. Bear with me. I hate the

lunch-hour closing.

Last group of counts is the money laundering. Why should

my client be found not guilty of that? Because they haven't

proven beyond a reasonable doubt that she knew these were

criminally-derived proceeds. They have to prove that. They

have to prove that she knew it. Criminally-derived property,

sorry. Not proceeds.

What's the best evidence? What's the best evidence at

trial that she didn't think that? She didn't -- she did

everything in her name, in the school's name. She didn't try

to hide any of this. She wrote checks on the school account,

she drew money from the school account. She didn't transfer it

to some -- some unknown bank or to some third party. She

bought a car. She bought property for the school. She bought
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herself a house. She did it all in her own name.

Does that sound like somebody who knew that they were

using criminally-derived property? No. Just the opposite. It

sounds like somebody who doesn't think they're doing anything

wrong.

And this sounds hyper-technical, and it is, but the

Government still has to prove it. They have to prove this was

in or affecting commerce. Look at the jury instruction. They

have to prove each of these checks and these transfers from the

bank that she did, that they charged with money laundering,

affected commerce. There was no testimony on that. They

didn't put on some economist or any other sort of expert. They

put on bank records, I guess, that Wells Fargo was federally

insured, but these were all local. These were all local. It

was all out in Pleasanton and Livermore.

Okay, this is my last chance to talk to you. Ms. West

gets a chance to get up again. There's been a lot of testimony

and there's certainly a lot of documents and I certainly

haven't covered them all, so I just ask you, when you get back

there and start deliberating, the question comes up and it's

something I haven't talked about, just take a second to say,

"Well, is there another side to this? What would Mr. Babcock

have said?" Try to look at it from both ways.

When you get back there, this is totally up to you. You

have to deliberate. You got to talk to each other. That's all
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it means. It's a fancy word to talk to each other. You

finally get to talk to each other about the case. Consider

each other's views, but when it comes time to vote, it's not a

group decision. It's not a majority rule. It's not a

go-along-with-the-group thing. Everybody's got to decide their

own vote. There are reasons -- each of these counts, there are

reasons to doubt whether these charges are true. One of the

biggest reasons, from where I'm sitting there really wasn't a

single unbiased witness in this case. All of these students

are from another country. All of them were here either on an

F-1 or another type of visa. On January 19th several of them,

like my client, were woken up, 6:00, 6:30 in the morning, with

Immigration agents at their door. Some of them were arrested

and deportation proceedings were started, or at least they had

to go to Immigration court.

Were they scared? Absolutely. Naturally. They're all

concerned about their immigration status. About staying here.

And the only reason -- well, I guess I didn't ask all of them,

I didn't ask them if they wanted to stay here, but I think it's

mostly self-evident. All of these witnesses had a reason to

slant their testimony in favor of the government. I'm not

saying they made all this stuff up, they didn't, but it

definitely colored their testimony.

Remember when I was asking Mr. Patel, I was trying to ask

him about these things, he told the agents last year and a
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couple of years ago. And he kept denying it. He kept denying

it. He says, "I didn't say that." Or, "I don't remember

saying that." And as soon as Mr. Rhyne gets up on redirect,

he's got -- the answers are flowing again. It's like pulling

teeth, when I was asking him questions. Because they are

afraid of Immigration, they are afraid of the Government. And

I understand that. It's nothing personal. But you got to take

that into consideration. Thank you for your time. I thank you

for it, my client thanks you for it. I just ask you to take it

seriously and really look at the evidence because I don't think

it's there. Out of these thousands of students, they

cherry-picked a few and they still haven't proven it. Thank

you for your time.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Babcock.

May I see counsel at sidebar, please.

MS. WEST: Yes.

(A sidebar was held as follows, out of the hearing of

the jury.)

THE COURT: We're at sidebar outside of the hearing of

the jury. Ms. West, do you want the proceedings to continue

today so you can make your rebuttal closing argument? And how

long do you think that will take, if you do?

MS. WEST: I would like to do that. I think it could be

done in 15 minutes or less.

THE COURT: All right, then let's proceed. And that way
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• 
Mr. Barry Kobe 

Tri .. vauey University 
4455 Stone ridge Drive 
Pleasanton CA 94588 

http;/ /trivaUe'l·uniYemty .org 
iD-m~dhh'ul~}tdvaUeyunh•t.<rs~ty .on~ 

Tel: 925102 9538 Fax: ~254'2 W55 

SEVIS Student and Exchange Visitor Program 
Potomac Center North 
500 12th Street SW 
Washington, DC 20524 
E-mail: barry.kobe@DHS.gov 
Tel: 703 603 3453 

Dear Mr. Kobe, 
· .. ,. ,:=.· 

--~-

Dr. Susan Su, President 
Tri-Valley University 

4455 Stoneridge Drive, 
Pleasanton CA 94588 

Feb. 10th,2009 

• Per our phone convmatioll, ~ ll!"~~oftbe 3 ~illliti~ ~:"'ts. 
Please let me know if you havefurl:ber questioiiS(lrneeciafi~g elsein.'orderto completethe adjudication 
of our I-17 petition. ·· · . · , 

• 

Best Regards; 

Susan Xiao-Ping Su 
President 
Tri-Valley University 

r- . ·.• ·. .. 

I RECEIVED BY SEVP} 
I · r 

I FIB 1 3c·W09 I 
I I 
i.§CHOOL CERTIFICATION BR/>JICH I 
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Tri-VaHey University 
and 

University of East West Medicine 
Articulation Agreement 

TillS ARTICLATIONAGREEMENT, dated this 2nd day of February 2009, is made by 
and between, Tri-Valley University hereinafter called "TVlY', and University of East West 
Medicine, hereinafter called "UEWM". TVU and UEWM acknowledge their shared 
missions to provide quality higher education which meet the needs of the region and 
provide a workforce of highly trained professionals. The primary pwpose of this agreement 
is to establish and enhance the mutual course transferability between the two institutions. 

L PRINCIPLFS OF AGREEMENT 

UEWM has been accepting 5 graduate comses transferring from 1VU and establishing 
research collaboration with TVU since 18th of April, 2008. The primary context of this 
Articulation Agreement is to establish the mutual course transferring relationship 
between all TVU and UEWM courses. On the mutual review and evaluation of the two 
institution's School of Medicine and all academic programs, UEWM will continue to 
unconditionally accept all courses transferring from Tri-Valley University, the entire 
institution. TVU will also accept all comses transferring credit from UEWM. The 
minimmn grade for both transferring course is "C". 

IL ACCREDITATION STATUS OF UEWMAND TVU 

The professional Master's degree programs of the University of East-West Medicine 
are accredited by the Accreditation Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental 
Medicine (ACAOM). The University of East-West Medicine is approved to operate the 
Master of Science Degree in Traditional Chinese Medicine under the High Education 
Act (HEA) of 1965 by the US Department of Education. The California Bureau for 
Private Post-secondary and Vocational Education {BPPVE) has granted the University 
of East-West Medicine formal approval to award Doctor of Acupuncture and Oriental 
Medicine(DAOM). More Accreditation of UEWM can ·be found at: 
htto://www.uewm.edu/aboutuewm/accreditation.htm1. 

Tri-Valley University, the entire institution has submitted application for Accreditation 
Candidacy Status to Transnational Association of Christian Colleges and Schools 
(TRACS). 1RACS is recognized by both the United States Department of Education, 
the Council for Higher Education Accreditatio~ and is a.member of the International 
Network for Quality Assurance Agencies in Higher Education (INQAAHE). 

IlL MUTUAL TERMS AND CONDmONS 

A. Term of the Agreement. This agreement shall be in effect for five (5) years 
from the date of signature and will be reviewed annually for accuracy . 

0004-0002 
SER0304

  Case: 14-10499, 04/17/2015, ID: 9500201, DktEntry: 26-3, Page 152 of 158



• 

• 

• 

B. TenniDatioa of the AgreeJDeDt. TVU and UEWM may terminare this 
Agreemem for any reason or no reason wi:lh ninety (90) days written notice ftom 
either party. Either party may tenninate this Agreement in the event of a 
substan1ial breach. 

C. No• diseriminatioL The parties agree to continue their respective policies of 
nondisc.rimination based on Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 in regard to 
~ age, race, color, creed, national origin, Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of 1972 and other applicable laws, a8 well as the provisions of the 
Americans with disabilities Act. · 

D. Modifintiou of Agreemeat. This Agreement shall only be modified in 
writing with 1he same formality as the original Agrrement 

E. Liability._Neither of the parties shall assume any liabilities to each other. As to 
liability to each other, or damages to property, the parties do not waive any 
defense as a result of entering into this contract. This provision sball not be 
construed to limit the Commonwealth's rights, claims or defenses which arise as a 
matter of law pmsuant to any provisions of this con1ract. This provision shall not 
be construed to limit the sovereign immuoity of the Commonwealth or of the 
State System of Higher Education or the University • 

F. Entire Agreemeat. This Agreement 1epresents the entire undeJStanding 
between the parties. Any changes, corrections or additions to this contract shaD be 
in writing in the form of a supplemental agreement signed by all necessary parties 
and setting forth therein the proposed change, correction, or addition. 

IN WI1'N.ESS WHEREOF, the authoriud ~tativa of the parties have 
exeeutal this A&rce-eat as ef this l~ day of Feb., 2009. 

Uaivenity of East West Mediclae 

0.4_1~~ 

Tri-Valley Uaivenity 

Dr. Susan Xiao-Ping Su 
Founder and President 
Tri-Valley University 

0004-0003 
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Tri-Valley University 
and 

San Francisco State University 

Articulation Agreement 

TillS ARTICLATION AGREEMENT, dated this 2nd day of Feb. 2009, is made by and 
between, Tri-Valley University hereinafter called ••TVU", and San Francisco State 
University, hereinafter called "SFSU". 

L PRINCIPLES OF AGREEMENT 

n. 

This ARTICULATION AGREEMENT serves as an amendment to· "Course 
Articulation Agreement" dated 5/112008, between Tri-Valley University (TVU} and 
San Francisco State University (SFSU). SFSU has been accepting TVU's course 
"CS300 Logic and Computer Architecture" in Computer Science and Engineering 
Department tmnsferring since then, in comparable to SFSU's "ENGR 356 Basic 
Computer- Architecture" at the School of Engineering. 

. . 
After further careful review of the acack:mic standards adopted and practiced by 
Tri-Valley University. and a 1horougb evaluation ofTVU's School of Engineering 
course syllabus, curriculum, faculty profile and qualification, we have come to the 
conclusion that the School of Engineering at San Francisco State University will 
continue unconditionally accept course transferring credits for graduate courses 
from School of Engineering at TVU into SFSU's School of Engineering in 
Electrical Engineering, Computer Science and Engineering, and Mechanical 
Engineering areas. The minimum requirement on the grade for transferring course 
is "C". 

MUTUAL TERMS AND CONDIDONS 

A. Accreditation Status 
SFSU is accredited by Western Association of Schools and Colleges (W ASC), 
Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities). WASC is 
listed as a regional accrediting agency by both the United States Department 
of Education, and the Council for Higher Education Accreditation. 

B. During of Agreement 
This agreement shall be in effect for five (5) y~ from the date of signature. 

C. Non discrimination 
The parties agree to continue their respective policies of nondiscrimination 
based ori Title VI of the Civil Rights Act_ of 1964 in regard to sex, age, race, 
color, creed, and national origin, Title IX of the Education .._ n-f 

RECEIVED BY SEVP 

FEB 13 2009 

SCHOOL CERTIFICATION BRANCH 
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1972 and other applicable laws, as well as· the provisions of the Americans 
with disabilities Act. 

D. Modification of Agreement 
This Agreement shall only be modified in writing with the same formality as 
the original Agreement. 

E. Liability 
Neither of the parties shall assume any liabilities to each other. As to liability 
to each other, or damages to property, the parties do not waive any defense as 
a result of entering into this contract. This provision shall not be construed to 
limit the Commonwealth's rights, claims or defenses which arise as a matter 
of law pursuant to any provisions of this contract. This provision shalJ not be 
construed to limit the sovereign immunity of the Commonwealth or of the · 
State System of Higher Education or the University. 

F. Entire Agreement 
This Agreement represents the entire understanding between the parties. Any 
changes, corrections or additions to this contract shall be in writing in the 
form of a supplemental agreement signed by all necessary parties and setting 
forth therein the proposed change, correction, or addition. 

This Articulation Agreement between Tri-Valley University and San 
Francisco State University is accepted ud approved by the participabg 
entities this 2nd day of February 2009. 

Tri-Valley University 

Dr. Susan Xiao-Ping Su 
FolBlder and P~dent 
Tri-Valley University 

Prof. Shy-Shenq Liou 
Director of School of Engineering 
San Francisco State University 
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· Tri-Valley University 
and 

University of Central Florida 

Articulation Agreement 

TIDS ARTICULATION AGREEMENT, dated this 2nd day of February 2009, is 
made by and between, Tri-Valley University hereinafter called "TVU", and 
University of Central Florida, hereinafter called "UCF" on the course transferability 
between the two institutions. This Articulation Agreement is an amendment of the 
Course Articulation Agreement between TVU and UCF on May 1st, 2008. 

I. PRINCIPLES OF AGREEMENT 

II. 

This primary purpose and content of this agreement is to establish the course 
transferring relationship between the Department of Computer Science and 
Engineering at School of Engineering in Tri-Valley University and the Department 
of Statistics and Actuarial Science at University of Central Florida. UCF has been 
accepting 8 courses transferring from TVU since May I st, 2008. 

On the evaluation ofTri-Valley University recently developed Bachelor of Science 
program in Computer Science and graduate programs in Data Mining m~or area in 
the Department of Computer Science and Engineering· at School of Engineering, 
Department of Statistics . and Actuarial Science at 11nivasily of Central Florida 
agrees to continue aeceptiQg 1b.e course. transferring from the entire Department of 
Computa Science md F.twgj•"Xiiing at TYU. The minimum acceptable grade for 
transferring is ~c·. 

MUTUAL TERMS AND CONDffiONS 

A. Accreditation Status. The University of Central Florida is accredited by the 
Commission on Colleges of the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools 
(1866 Southern Lane, Decatur, Georgia 30033-4097: Telephone number 404 679 
4501) to award degrees at the associate, baccalaureate, master's, and doctoml 
levels. 

B. During of Agreemeat. This Agreement This agreement shall be in effect for 
five (5) years from the date of signature. 

C. No• discrimination. The parties agree to continue their respective policies of 
nondiscrimination based on Title VI of the Ci\lil Rights Act of 1964 in regard to 
sex. age, race. color. creed, national origin, Title IX of the Education 

0004-0006 
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Amendments of 1972 and other applicable laws, as well as the provisions ofthe 
Americans with disabilities Act 

D. Modification of Agreement This Agreement shall only be modified in wri:ting 
with the same fonnality as the original Agreement. 

E. I.Jabllity. Neither of the parties shall assmne any liabilities to each o1hec. AB to 
liability to each other, or damages to property, the parties do not waive any 
defense as a result of entering into this contract. This provision. shall not be 
construed to limit the Commonwealth's rights, claims or defenses which arise as a 
matter of law pursuant to any provisions of this contract. This provision sball not 
be construed to limit the sovereign immunity of the Commonwealth or of the 
State System of Higher Education or the University. 

F. Entire Agreement. This Agreement represents the entire understanding 
between the parties. Any changes, corrections or additions to this contract shall be 
in writing in the form of a supplemental agreement signed by all necessary parties 
and setting forth therein the proposed change, correction, or addition. 

This Artieolation Agreement between Tri-Valley Univenity aud University of 
Central Florida is accepted and approved by the participating entities this 2• day 
of Feb. 2009 • 

Tri-VaBey Univenity 

Dr. Susan Xiao-Ping Su President 
Tri-Valley University 

Univenity of Central Florida 

Prof Xiaogang Su Student Advisor 
Dept. of Statistics and Actuarial Science RECF.JVED BY SEVP 

University of Cen1ral Florida 

fEB 13 2009 

SCHOOL CERTIFICATION BRANCH . 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Hui Chen, certify that I am an employee of the Office of the United States 

Attorney, Northern District of California, a person over 18 years of age and not a 

party to the within action. I certify that on April 17, 2015, I electronically 

submitted the 

• Brief for the United States as Appellee  
• Government’s Supplemental Excerpts of Record (2 Volumes) 

 
in the case of United States v Susan Xiao-Ping Su, No. 14-10499, with the Clerk 

of the Court for the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit by using 

the appellate CM/ECF system.  

 I certify that all participants in the case are registered CM/ECF users and 

that service will be accomplished by the appellate CM/ECF system.  

Dated:  April 17, 2015     /s/ Hui Chen  
Hui Chen, Paralegal Specialist 
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